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STATEMENT BY CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVES

We, Munkhbaatar Myagmar, being the Chairman of the Board of Directors of MIK Holding JSC (previously
known as SPV A LLC), Gantugs Damdin, being the Chief Executive Officer and Gongor Gombosuren,
being the Head of Financial and Accounting, Controlling Division primarily responsible for the financial
statements of MIK Holding JSC and its subsidiaries, herein collectively referred to as the “Group”, do
hereby state that, in our opinion, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 4 to 58 present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2015 and
its financial performance and cash flows for year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS (CONTD.)

To the Sharcholders of MIK Holding JSC

Opinion

In our opinion, the conselidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2015, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Restriction on Use

This report is made solely to the sharcholders of the Company, as a body, in accordance with the audit
requested by shareholders in accordance with Article 94 of the Company Law of Mongolia and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.
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Certified PumaAwt&nté/ Director
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Sharehelders of MIK Holding JSC

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of MIK Holding JSC (previously
known as SPV A LLC) and its subsidiaries, herein collectively referred as the "Group", which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Management's responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Intemnational Standards on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An andit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

2015 2014
Notes MNT'000 MNT'000
Interest income 3 125,520,407 41,840,929
Interest expense 4 {76,445,274) (24,539,111
Net interest income 49,075,133 17,301,818
Fee and commission expenses 5 (5.767,364) (2,040,983)
Other operating income — net 6 18,873 51,161
Total operating income 43,326,642 15,311,996
Credit loss expense 13 (3,288,839) (473,419)
Net operating income 40,037,803 14,838,577
Operating expenses 7 (8,335.836) {2,351,270)
Profit before tax 31,701,967 12,487,307
Income tax expense 8 (1,327,083) (381,772)
Profit for the year, representing total
comprehensive income 30,374,884 12,105,535
Earnings per share (MNT)
Basic and diluted earnings per share 9 1,744.32 746.49

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2315

ASSETS

Cash and bank balances

Financial investments-held to maturity
Mortgage pool receivables with recourse
Purchased mortgage pool receivables
Other assets

Property and equipment

Intangible assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Borrowed funds
Collateralized bonds
Other liabilities

Income tax payable
TOTAL LIABILITIES

EQUITY
Ordinary shares
Share premium
Retained carnings

TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Notes

10
11
12
13
14
15
16

17
18
19

20
20

2015 2014
MNT'000 MNT'000
128,132,221 50,105,168
2,899,001 -
11,196,817 5,286,570
2,010,062,427 823,404,667
188,215 262,384
14,782,248 14,749,637
92,334 140,393
2,167,353,263 93,948,819
8,366,368 8,782,916
2,037,542,209 835,631,986
7,413,507 3,131,691
86,676 122,642
2,053,908,760 847,669,235
20,709,320 16,798,856
52,225,115 15,724,835
40,510,068 13,755,893
113,444,503 46,279,584
2,167,353,263 893,048,819

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements,
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

1 January 2014

Total comprehensive
income

Issuance of ordinary shares

At 31 December 2014 and
1 January 2015

Total comprehensive
income

Stock dividends declared

Issuance of ordinary shares

At 31 December 2015

Motes

20

20
20

QOrdinary Share Retained Total
shares premium earnings ## equity
MNT'060 MNT'000 MNT'000 MNT'0060
14,298,856 8,224,833 1,650,358 24,174,049
- - 12,105,535 12,105,535
2,500,000 7,500,000 - 10,000,000
16,798,856 15,724,835 13,755,893 46,279,584
- - 30,374,884 30,374,884

- - (3,620,709 (3,620,7069)
3,910,464 36,500,280 - 40,410,744
20,709,320 52,225,115 # 40,510,068 ## 113,444,503

# Included in share premium, share issuance cost amounting to MNT 124.7 million.

## Included in retained earnings as at 31 December 2015 are restricted retained earnings of MNT 37,252,156
thousand (31 December 2014: MNT 8,534,347 thousand) that are attributable to the Group’s special
purpose vehicles (the “SPVs™). The restriction relates to the Residential Mortgage Backed Securities
(referred to as “RMBS™) (see note 1 below for further details), issued by the SPVs and its effect is that
these retained earnings are restricted from distribution until the liquidation of the respective SPVs in
accordance with their Articles of Charter and related Financial Regulatory Commission (referred to as

“FRC”} regulation.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Unrealised foreign exchange gain
Credit loss on purchased mortgage pool receivables
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Depreciation of property and equipment
Write-off of property and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation of deferred grants
Accrual of other payables
Interest accrual on mortgage pool receivables
Interest accrual on borrowed fund
Interest accrual on collateralized bonds
Interest accrual on financial investments-held to maturity
Operating profit before working capital changes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Due from banks — placement with original
maturities of more than three months
Mortgage pool receivables
Other assets
Mortgage backed securities
Other liabilities
Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid
Net cash flows generated from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment
Purchase of property and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Additions to financial investments-held to maturity

Net cash flows used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares

Net cash flows generated from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Notes

oo

(=2 I B B |

21

21

2015 2014
MNT'000 MNT'000
31,701,967 12,487,307
(4,558) (38,221)
3,288,839 473,419
3,160 -
303,550 58,028
1,802 -
58,619 22,664
(12,058) (12,058)
3,725.216 -
(4,536,316) (2,468,742)
83,452 5,109,277
3,790,005 (21,471)
(321,570) -
38,062,108 15,610,203

(10,499,376)

(11,520,052)

110,162,141 43,423,814
74,169 1,147,675
(103,342,453) (38,652,970)
206,587 (328,950)
34,663,176 9,679,720
(1,363,049) (298,254)
33,300,127 9,381,466
1,566 -
(342,689) (12,437,933)
(10,560) (129,863)
(2,577,431) -
(2,929.114) (12,567,796)
37,152,106 10,000,000
37,152,106 10,000,000
67,523,119 6,813,670
4,558 38,221
38,585,116 31,733,225
106,112,793 38,585,116

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MII HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —31 DECEMBER 2015

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Mongolian Mortgage Corporation HFC LLC (“MIK HFC™) was incorporated on 04 September 2006 under
the Company Law of Mongolia, under the name of “Housing Finance Corporation” and renamed on 6
October 2006 as “Mongolian Mortgage Corporation HFC LLC™.

MIK Holding JSC (the “Company™) was incorporated on 23 April 2008 under the Company Law of
Mongolia and was a wholly owned subsidiary of MIK HFC. The Company was previously known as SPV
A LLC and renamed on 30 October 2015. The Company remained dormant since incorporation until the
completion of the reorganisation as detailed below in which the principal activity of the Company became
investment holding.

During 2015, the Group has undertaken a reorganisation, whereby the Company has conducted a share
swap with MIK HFC (the “Reorganisation”) according to a share swap agreement dated 9 November 2015
(the “Agreement”). The Company became the holding company of the companies now comprising the
Group on 14 December 2015.

The issue of shares of the Company in exchange for the equity interest in MIK HFC, which previously was
the holding company of the companies comprising the Group, resulted in the Company becoming the
holding company of MIK HFC, and thereby became the holding company of the Group. The
reorganization did not change the number of shares issued by the holding company of the Group and the
shareholders.

The Group’s objective is to develop a secondary market for mortgage loans in Mongolia by acquiring them
from the commercial banks and thus providing the banking sector with additional liquidity, which c¢an be
used for further growth of mortgage lending. Its principal activities include purchases of mortgage loans
issued by Mongolian commercial banks and the issuance of bonds, which are collateralized by the cash
flows from the repayment of the mortgage pools.

The registered share capital of MNT 20,709,320 thousand (2014: MNT 16,798,856 thousand) consists of
20,709,320 (2014: 16,798,856) common shares at par value of MNT 1,000 (2014: MNT 1,000) each.

The Company is a joint stock company listed on the Mongolian Stock Exchange, incorporated and
domiciled in Mongolia. The shareholders of the Group for the year ended 31 December 20135 are set out in
Note 20.

The business activity of issuing asset backed securities became a licensed activity in Mongolia effective
from 1 January 2011 in accordance with the Asset Backed Securities Law of Mongolia which was
approved on 23 April 2010. On 14 March 2012, MIK HFC was granted, by the Financial Regulatory
Commission of Mongolia (“FRC™), a special license for the issuance of asset backed securities.

In 2013, the Government of Mongolia together with Bank of Mongolia (*BoM™) have initiated a price
stabilization program which included a subsidy scheme for mortgage financing to create a stable
environment for mortgage financing. Under the program, the commercial banks in Mongolia have been
granted soft loans to fund the issuance of subsidized interest rate mortgage loans or refinance their existing
loans with the subsidized interest rate mortgage financing.



MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2015

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONT’D.)

On 14 June 2013, MIK HFC, BoM and 14 commercial banks signed an agreement to participate in this
government program and on 30 October 2013, the Group established a special purpose vehicle (the
“SPV™), MIK Asset One SPC LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary, to purchase the subsidized interest rate
mortgage pools bearing an interest rate of 8% from the commercial banks and in return to issue Residential
Mortgage Backed Securities (RMBS), which are collateralized by the cash flows and collaterals of these
mortgage pools. On 23 December 2013, MIK Asset One SPC LLC purchased MNT 322,902 million
mortgage loans from the commercial banks of Mongolia and issued MNT 322,902 million RMBS.

On 31 March 2014 and 05 September 2014, the Group established MIK Asset Two SPC LLC and MIK
Asset Three SPC LLC respectively. On 30 June 2014 and 31 October 2014, MIK Asset Two SPC LLC and
MIK. Asset Three SPC LLC purchased MNT 222,052 million and MNT 324,596 million of mortgage loans
from the commercial banks of Mongolia and in return issued MNT 222,052 million and MNT 324,596
million RMBS, respectively. On 21 October 2014, the Group established MIK Asset Four SPC LLC
which, on 21 January 2015, purchased MNT 452,278 million of mortgage loans from the commercial
banks and issued MNT 452,278 million RMBS,

On 15 January 2015, 10 April 2015, 23 July 2015, 21 September 2015 and 17 November 2015, the Group
established MIK Asset Five SPC LLC, MIK Asset Six SPC LLC, MIK Asset Seven SPC LLC, MIK Asset
Eight SPC LLC and MIK. Asset Nine SPC LLC, respectively. On 29 May 2015, 10 August 2015 and 30
November 2015, MIK Asset Five SPC LLC, MIK Asset Six SPC LLC and MIK Asset Seven SPC LILC
purchased MNT 294,343 million, MNT 261,699 million and MNT 293,863 million of mortgage loans
from the commercial banks of Mongolia and in return issued MNT 294,343 million, MNT 261,699 million
and MNT 293,862 million RMBS, respectively.

All SPVs are incorporated in Mongolia and the principal activities of the SPVs are mainly restricted to the
purchase of the mortgage loans, the issuance of RMBS and restricted investment activities as governed by
the Articles of the Charter of each SPV and relevant FRC regulations,

The Company and MIK HFC do not have any branches as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014,

The Group’s principal place of business and the registered address is Sukhbaatar district, 1¥ khoroo, Peace
Avenue-19, 10" floor, Ulaanbaatar City, Mongolia.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group were authorized for issue in accordance with the
resolution of the Board of Directors on 18 March 2016,



MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND PREPARATICN

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a historical cost basis. The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Mongolian Togrog, which is denoted by the symbol
MNT, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands, except when otherwise indicated.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (JASB).

Basis of presentation

Pursuant to the Reorganisation as more fully explained in note 1 to the financial statements, the Company
became the holding company of the companies now comprising the Group on 14 December 2015. As the
Reorganisation only involved inserting a new holding entity at the top of an existing group and has not
resulted in any change of economic substance, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 and 2014 have been presented as a continuation of the existing group using the pooling of
interests method.

Accordingly, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for
the year are prepared as if the current group structure had been in existence throughout the year.

The consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2014 has been prepared
to present the assets and liabilities of the companies now comprising the Group, as if the current group

structure had been in existence at that date.

All intra-group transactions and balances have been eliminated on combination.

-10-



MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

- 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND PREPARATION
Presentation of financial statements

The Group presents its statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding
recovery or seitlement within 12 months after the reporting date {current) and more than 12 months after
the reporting date (non-current) is presented in Note 23,

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liability simultaneously. Income
and expense i1s not offset in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
unless required or permitted by any accounting standard or interpretation, and as specifically disclosed in
the accounting policies of the Group.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continues to be
] consolidated until the date when such control ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
. prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies. All
intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated in full.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for the
following standards and amendments to IFRS that became effective as of 1 January 2015:

New and amended standards and interpretations

»  Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits - Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
o Contributions '
= ¢ [FRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate’
e Annual Improvements (2010-2012 Amendments to a number of IFRSs issued in December 2013
cycle)
= e Annual Improvements (2011-2013 Amendments to a number of IFRSs issued in December 2013
cycle)
5 The adoption of the new and amended standards and interpretations did not have any significant impact on

the financial performance or position of the Group.

-11 -




MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES (CONT’D.)

Standards jssued but not vet effective

The Standards and Interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the
Group’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable,
when they become effective.

e IFRS 9 (2010 version) Financial Instruments

e  Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and
IAS 28
e  Amendmenis to IFRS 10 and TAS 28

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception"

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and ifs
Associate or Joint Venture'

¢  Amendments to IJFRS 11
e  Amendments to JAS 12

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations'

Income taxes: Recognition of deferred tax assets for
. ki
unrealized losses”

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts®
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers *
I[FRS 16 Leases®

Amendments to JAS 1
Amendments to IAS 7
Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38

Amendments to IAS 16 and JAS 4]
Amendments to IAS 27

Annual Improvements (2012-2014
cycle)

Disclosure Initiative'
. e . 2
Disclosure Initiative”

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation’

Agriculture: Bearer Plants'

Separate Financial Statements - Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements '

Amendments to a number of IFRSs issued in September 2014
/

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
Effective for an entity that first adopts IFRSs for its annual financial statements beginning on or
after 1 January 2016 and therefore is not applicable to the Group

[P NP VR

'The Group is in the process of assessing if the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in the future
periods will have material impact on its financial statements.

-12-



[

4,....
R

s

N

[ —

MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

23

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)
Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Mongolian Togrog ("MNT"), which is also the
Company’ s functional currency. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange at the statement of financial position date. All

differences arising from settlement or translation of monetary items are taken to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non—monetary items measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. The
gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of gain or loss on change in fair value of the item.

USD/MNT exchange rate as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 were 1995.98 and 1,883.60,
respectively.

-13-
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ~ 31 DECEMBER 2015

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)

Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement

(M

(i)

(i)

Date of recognition

All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the
Group become a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes "regular way
trades": purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Initial recognition of financial instruments

Financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value, which is the fair value of the
consideration given (in case of an asset) or received (in case of a liability). The initial measurement
of financial instruments, except in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (FVPL), includes transaction cost.

In terms of the IAS 39 classification, the Group’s financial assets consist of financial investments
classified as held to maturity and loans and receivables and its financial liabilities only consist of
loans and borrowings.

Loans and receivables

The Group’s loans and receivables consist mainly of the mortgage pool receivables. The mortgage
pool receivables purchased from commercial banks are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, other than:

«  Those that the Group intends to sell immediately or in the near term and those that
the Group upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss.

= Those that the Group, upon initial recognition, designates as available for sale.

¢  Those for which the Group may not recover substantially all of its initial
investment, other than because of credit deterioration.

After initial measurement, mortgage pool receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the EIR, less allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate (EIR). The amortisation is included in Interest income' in the income statement. The
losses arising from impairment are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

.14 .
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)

Financial instraments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement (cont’d.)

(iv)

™)

Loans and borrowings

The Group’s loans and borrowings consist mainly of the issued collateralized bonds and other
liabilities. The substance of the contractual agreement of loans and borrowings results in the Group
having an obligation either to deliver cash or other financial assets to the holder, or to satisfy the
obligation other than by the exchange of fixed amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed
number of own equity shares.

Loans and borrowing are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method of
amortization.

Held-to-maturity financial investments

Held-to-maturity financial investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturities, which the Group has the intention and ability to hold
to maturity. After initial measurement, held-to-maturity financial investments are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the EIR less any impairment loss. Amortised cost is calculated by
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the
EIR. The amortisation is included in ‘Interest and similar income’ in profit or loss. The losses
arising from impairment of such investments are recognised in the ‘Credit loss expense’.

If the Group were to sell or reclassify more than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity
investments before maturity (other than in certain specific circumstances), the entire category
would be tainted and would have to be reclassified as available-for-sale. Furthermore, the Group
would be prohibited from classifying any financial asset as held to maturity during the following
two years.

Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

®

Financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is derecognised when:

= The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired.
¢« The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a

'pass—through' arrangement; and either:

« the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or

= the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

-15-



MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)

Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities (cont’d.)

®

(i)

Financial assets (cont’d.)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the
Group’s continzing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying value of the original
financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or
loss.
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DPECEMBER 2015

2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)

DPetermination of fair value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a Hability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the Hability takes place either:

® In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
® In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)

Determination of fair value (cont’d.)

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is uncbservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as how they are measured are provided in
Note 26.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is any objective evidence
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one
or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred 'loss event') and that
loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments and where observable data
indicates that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears
or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

(i) Financial assetfs carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses individually whether
objective evidence of impairment exists for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is

measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred).

.18 -



bz

MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)

Impairment of financial assets (cont’d.)

()

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (cont’d.)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount
and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with the associated allowance are
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised
or has been transferred to the Group. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the
allowance account. If writen-off loans and receivable are later recovered, the recovery is recognized
as income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset's original
EIR. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
new EIR determined at the reclassification date.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial
asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the
collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

For the purpose of a collective impairment evaluation, financial assets are grouped on the basis of
the Group's credit risk grouping, that considers credit risk characteristics such as asset type,
industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors.

The Group’s collective impairment evaluation is computed based on historical loss experience of
the each credit risk grouping. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current
observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the years on which the
historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period
that do not exist currently.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect, and are directionally consistent with, changes in
related observable data from year to year (such as changes in unemployment rates, property prices,
commodity prices, payment status, or other factors that are indicative of incurred losses in the group
and their magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

"2 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

" 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {(CONT’D.)
2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)
Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, therefore, the related assets and liabilities are
presented gross in statement of financial position.

Recognition of income and expenses

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met
before revenue is recognised.

(i) Interest income and expense

For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, interest income or expense is recorded
using the EIR, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial lability. The calculation takes into account
all contractual terms of the financial instrument and includes any fees or incremental costs that are
directly attributable to the instrument and are an integral part of the EIR, but not future credit losses.

The carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if the Group revises its
estimates of payments or receipts.

The adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the original EIR and the change in carmrying
amount is recorded in profit or loss. However, for a reclassified financial asset for which the Group
subsequently increases its estimates of future cash receipts as a result of increased recoverability of
those cash receipts, the effect of that increase is recognised as an adjustment to the EIR from the
date of the change in estimate.

biismscui

Once the recorded value of a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been reduced
due to an impairment loss, interest income continues to be recognised using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

{D Fee and commission expenses

Fee expense represents administration and fixed fee commission paid to the commercial banks. Fee
expense is recognized when actual service has been provided.

Components of fees that are linked to a certain performance are recognised after fulfilling the
corresponding criteria.
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as referred to in the cash flow statement comprises cash on hand, non-restricted
current accounts with banks and amounts due from banks or with an original maturity of three months or
less.

Property and equipment

All items of property and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent costs are included in the
asset's carrying amount or recognised as a scparate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of any replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Subsequent to recognition, property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses.

Assets under construction are not depreciated. Depreciation of other property and equipment is provided
for on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of each asset to its residual value over the estimated useful
life at the following annual rates:

Premises 40 years
Furniture and office equipment 10 years
Computers 3 years
Vehicles 10 years

The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end to ensure
that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property and equipment,

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any and the net
carrying amount is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Intangible assets

The Group's other intangible assets include the value of computer software.

An intangible asset is recognised only when its cost can be measured reliably and it is probable that the
expected future economic benefits that are attributable to it will flow to the Group.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial

recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)

Intangible assets

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with
finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year—end.
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits
embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and
treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the
expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of intangible assets to
their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Computer software licenses 3 years
Employee benefits
43] Short term benefits

Wages, salaries and other salary related expenses are recognised as an expense in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group. Short term accumulating
compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by
employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences, and short term non-
accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when absences occur.

(ii) Defined contribution plans

As required by law, companies in Mongolia make contributions to the government pension scheme,
social and health fund. Such contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense
relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income net of any reimbursement.

Taxes

() Current tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute
the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial position

date.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)

Taxes (cont’d.)

(ii)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences at the statement of financial position date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

«  Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

¢ Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss.

@

In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of financial position date
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at each statement of financial position date and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year
when the asset is realised or the Hability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss.

Deferred tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)
Taxes (cont’d.)

(i)  Deferred tax (cont’d.)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets agamst current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and
the same taxation authority.

Grants

Grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attached
conditions will be complied with, When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
over the period necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to
compensate. When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognised as deferred income and released to income
in equal amounts over the expected useful life of the related asset

When the Group receives non-monetary grants, the asset and the grant arc recorded gross at nominal
amounts and released to the income statement over the expected useful life and pattern of consumption of
the benefit of the underlying asset by equal annual instalments. When loans or similar assistance are
provided by governments or related institutions with an interest rate below the current applicable market
rate, the effect of this favourable interest is regarded as additional government grants.

Equity

) Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(ii)  Retained earnings
Retained earnings represent accumulated profits or losses, reduced by dividend declarations. These
may also include prior period adjustments and effects of changes in accounting policies.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Group (after adjusting for interest on the convertible preference shares and interest on
the convertible bond, in each case net of tax, if any) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on
the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ~ 31 DECEMBER 2015

2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)

Transactions with related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group:

(a)

(b)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a Group if that person:

(1)
(1)
(iif)

has control or joint control of the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or
is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

An entity is related to a Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(1)
(ii)

(iii)
{iv)

)
(vi)
(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture
of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity,

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers
are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

All material transactions and balances with the related parties are disclosed in the relevant notes to
consolidated financial statements and the detail is presented in Note 24.

Segment information

The Group is engaged in purchasing of mortgage pools and issuing RMBS securitized by those mortgage
pools in Mongolia. Accordingly, the Group considers that it only has a single reportable segment from both
business and geographic perspectives and therefore only provides relevant entity-wide information.
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has exercised judgment and estimates
in determining the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The most significant uses of judgment and
estimates are as follows:

Going concern

The Group's management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future.
Moreover, management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on
a going concern basis.

Depreciation of property and equipment /amortization of intangible assets

Property and equipment are depreciated and intangible assets are amortised on straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of property and equipment and intangible
assets to be within 3 to 40 years. These are common life expectancies applied in the industry in which
the Group operates. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact
the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, which would lead to revision of charges
in the future.

Impairment losses on loans and receivables

The Group reviews its individually significant loans and receivables at each statement of financial position
date to assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. In particular, management judgment is required in the estimation of the
amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the impairment loss. These estimates are based
on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the
allowance.

Loans and recejvables that have been assessed individually and found not to be impaired and all
individually insignificant loans and receivables are then assessed collectively, in groups of assets with
similar risk characteristics, to determine whether provision should be made due to incurred loss events for
which there is objective evidence but whose effects are not yet evident. The collective assessment takes
account of data from the loan portfolio (such as levels of arrears, credit utilisation, loan to collateral ratios,
etc.), and judgments to the effect of concentrations of risks and economic data (including levels of
unemployment, real estate prices indices, country risk and the performance of different individual groups).

The impairment loss on loans and receivables is recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
disclosed in more detail in Notes 12 and 13.
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3.

4.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D.)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONT’D)
Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. Further details are
given in note § to the financial statements.

Significant management judgement is also required to determine the amount of withholding tax liability
associated with the future dividend distribution of the Group’s SPVs, based upon the likely timing and
level of retained earnings.

INTEREST INCOME AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

During the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group was engaged in a single business segment,
which is the purchasing of mortgage pools and issuing RMBS securitized by those mortgage pools in
Mongolia. There has been no single external customer that has contributed revenue exceeding 10% or
more of the Group’s revenue during the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014,

2015 2014
MNT'000 MNT'000
Bank balances 6,723,647 4,353,184
Mortgage pool receivables with recourse 1,544,512 806,259
Purchased mortgage pool receivables (without recourse) 116,930,678 36,681,486
Government treasury bill 321,570 —
125,520,407 41,840,929

INTEREST EXPENSE
2015 2014
MNT'000 MNT'060
Collateralized bonds 75,993,106 23,876,286
Borrowed funds 452,168 662,825
76,445,274 24,539,111
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2015

5. FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSES
2015 2014
MNT'000 MNT'000
Loan service fees 5,764,594 2,039,609
Bank service charges 2,770 1,374
5,767,364 2,040,983
6. OTHER OPERATING INCOME - NET
2013 2014
MNT'"000 MNT'000
Grant income (Note 19) 12,058 12,058
Foreign exchange gain, net 4,558 38,221
Other income 2,257 882
18,873 51,161
7. OPERATING EXPENSES
2015 2014
MNT'000 MNT'000
Personnel expenses* 2,340,084 1,470,825
Depreciation expense (Note 15) 303,550 58,028
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16) 58,619 22,664
Write-off of property and equipment (Note 15) 1,802 -
Loss on disposal of property and equipment (Note 15) 3,160 -
Professional service fee 1,073,286 343,012
Others 4,555,335 456,741
8,335,836 2,351,270
* Personnel expenses
Salaries, wages and bonus 2,078,037 1,299,133
Contribution to social and health fund 209,470 142,979
Staff training 52,577 28,713
2,340,084 1,470,825

Included in other expenses is the provision for future withholding tax liability against the future dividend
distribution of the SPVs amounting to MNT 3,725,216 thousand.
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are:

2015 2014
MNT'000 MNT'000

Current tax
Current income tax 1,327,083 381,772

The Group provides for income taxes on the basis of its income for financial reporting purposes, adjusted
for items which are not assessable or deductible for income tax purposes. The income tax rate for profits
of the Group are 10% (2014: 10%) for the first MNT3 billion (2014: MNT 3 billion) of taxable income,
and 25% (2014: 25%) on the excess of taxable income over MNT 3 billion (2014: MNT 3 billion).

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory income tax rate to
income tax expense at the effective income tax rate of the Group for the years ended 31 December are as

follows:

2015 2014
MNT'000 MNT'000
Profit before tax 31,701,967 12,487,307
Tax at statutory tax rate of 25% (2014: 25%) 7,925,492 2,720,600
Effect of change in bracket from 25% to 10% (588,598) (1,527,386)

Effect of principal repayment of collateralized bonds as tax
deductible (26,729,275) (3,821,120)
Effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,811,123 111,283
a Effect of prior year tax loss carryforward utilized - {105,303)
. Effect of income not subject to tax (80,393) -
Deferred tax asset not recognized for tax losses 15,988,734 3,003,698
Tax expense for the year 1,327,083 381,772

The Group has tax losses of MNT 75,954,935 thousand (2014: MNT 30,145,751 thousand) that are
v available to offset against future taxable profits for the next two financial years. The annual amount of tax
loss deductible from taxable income is limited to 50% of the taxable income in a given year. The Group’s
tax losses are mainly arising from the SPVs.

As per Mongolian Corporate Income Taxation Law, the principal repayment of asset backed bonds issued
by a licensed company (in the Group’s case, the collateralised bonds issued) is deductible for tax purpose.
As a result, it is uncertain whether the SPVs will generate future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets arising from tax losses are not recognized as the Group is uncertain whether there
would be sufficient taxable profit in the next two years available against which the tax losses carried
forward can be utilized.

....... The effective income tax rate for the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 is 4.19 % (2014
3.06%).
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9. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table shows the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share

calculations:

Profit for the year and total comprehensive income for the year
(net of tax) attributable to equity holder of the Group

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for

basic and diluted earnings per share
Earnings per share

Equity holder of the Group for the year:
Basic and diluted earnings per share

-30 -

2015 2014
MNT?000 MNT’000
30,374,884 12,105,535
17,413,567 16,216,664

MNT MNT
1,744.32 746.49




MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

10.

11.

12,

CASH AND BANK BALANCES
2015 2014
MNT'600 MXNT'000
Cash on hand 1,047 146
Current accounts with banks 22,729,578 6,205,412
Collection accounts with banks 7,310,695 4,374,902
Trust accounts with banks 12,254,455 9,551,211
Term deposits 85,836,446 28,973,497
128,131,174 50,105,022
128,132,221 50,105,168

All bank accounts are placed in commercial banks operating in Mongolia, and most of these commercial
banks are shareholders of the Company. The trust accounts with banks represent current accounts where
the collections made by commercial banks on behalf of the Company on the purchased mortgage pool
receivables are accumulated and are deposited into the current accounts on monthly basis. The collection
account issued is used for repayment of the RMBS. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents
approximates fair value,

The Group earns interest income at a rate of 9.0% to 16.6% per anmum on term deposits.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
2013 2014
MNT'000 MNT'000
Held-to-maturity:
Government treasury bills 2,809,001 -

Government treasury bills are interest bearing short term bills acquired at a discount.

MORTGAGE POOL RECEIVABLES WITH RECOURSE

The Group acquires mortgage pool receivables with recourse from commercial banks, most of whom are
shareholders of the Group, through the process similar to the acquisition of mortgage pool receivables
without recourse (Note 13). However, in the case of mortgage pool receivables with recourse, the Group
has the right to request from the respective commercial bank, when any individual mortgage loan is
overdue more than 90 days, either to replace the defaulted loan with another performing mortgage loan
with similar terms or to pay immediately in cash an amount equal to the carrying amount of the defaulted
loan plus accumulated interest. Thus, mortgage pool receivables with recourse represent, in substance,
loans issued to commercial banks in Mongolia, which are collateralized by related mortgage loan
receivables of those commercial banks, as well as by the related residential properties that are used as
collateral, as additional guarantee.
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

12. MORTGAGE POOL RECEIVABLES WITH RECOURSE (CONT’D.)

The Group applies the similar procedure for assessment of individual mortgage loans, as in the case of
mortgage pool receivables without recourse (Note 13). The Group performs credit quality analysis of the
individual mortgage loans on each mortgage pool acquired. The Group also assesses the financial
condition of the banks, as well as their general reputation in the Mongolian market.

2015 2014

MNT'G00 MNT'000

Mortgage pool receivables 11,192,061 5,224,968
Accrued interest receivables 4,736 61,602
11,196,817 5,286,570

Past due but not impaired loan receivables are expected to be either fully paid by the respective
commercial bank or replaced with another performing mortgage loan, if related loans become overdue
more than 90 days. The ageing analysis of mortgage pool receivables is set out in Note 25.2.

In accordance with the Group’s credit risk procedures, the ratio between the carrying amount of purchased
loan and the fair value of collateral (apartment or other residential property) at the time of purchase of
mortgage pools needs to be at least 70%. Collateral is analysed by the Group on an individual loan basis
prior to inclusion of related loan in the acquired mortgage pool. In addition, the Group has first claim
rights over all residential properties used as collateral (i.e. priority rights before other creditors).
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2015

13. PURCHASED MORTGAGE POOL RECEIVABLES

14.

2015 2014

MNT'000 MNT'000

Purchased mortgage pool receivables 2,006,174,052 820,840,614
Accrued interest receivables 7,650,633 3,037,472
2,013,824,685 823,878,086

Allowance for impairment losses (3,762,238) {473,419)
Net purchased mortgage pool receivables 2,010,062,427 823,404,667

Purchased mortgage pool receivables represent mortgage loan receivables due from individual borrowers,
purchased from Mongolian commercial banks, most of whom are shareholders of the Group. All
significant risks and rewards related to these mortgage loans, including the rights to the related collateral,
are fully transferred to the Group at acquisition of the mortgage pools.

For the purchase of these mortgage pool receivables, the Group follows credit risk procedures similar to
the mortgage pool receivables with recourse (See Note 12). The Group performs credit quality analysis of
the individual mortgage loans on each mortgage pool acquired. The Group also assesses the financial
condition of the bank, as well as its general reputation in the Mongolian market. For credit risk policies
and disclosures, please refer to Note 25.2.

Tmpairment allowance for purchased mortgage pool receivables

A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment losses for purchased mortgage pool receivables is as
follows:

2015 2014

MNT'000 MNT'000

At 1 Janvary 473,419 -
Net charge for the year 3,288,839 473,419
At 31 December 3,762,258 473,419

OTHER ASSETS

2015 2014

MNT'000 MNT'000

Prepayments 101,749 09,389
Consumables and office supplies 16,147 3,634
Other receivables 74,499 163,541
192,395 266,564

Less: Impairment allowance on other receivables (4,180) (4,180)
188,215 262,384

-33.



I.VMHI

8YTT8L VI AR 178°8L 0SE'EST £06°LPT 8TL'STIPI ymowe surdreed N
TEO'6LY - 081'9¢ LS9°9T1 969°9% 661"6LT SI0T Pquada( 1€V
(685°8) - - - (685°8) - resodsicy
(5£0°9) - - (L8g'¢) (8%9°1) - (£ 910N) Jjo-oaam
0§$°€0¢ - 005°01 LT1°09 E8LLT OP1°SIT (£ 0N Jeak 2y a05 oFxeY)
901°681 - 089°S1 L16°69 0ST'6€ 65E 179 S10¢ Atenuef 1 1y
wonepaidap pajununIdy
08Z'19T°S1 OPP9LI 100°501 L00'08T 665 6T LTT SOV S10T oquaoa( 1€ WV
- (76L°926°¢1) - - - v6L°976°¢1 UO1}BOLJISSE0aY]
(S1een) - -~ - (c1e'e) - [esodsi(]
(L£8'9) - - {rhs°e) (£6T°¢) ~ (£ 210N) JJO-21IM
689°TrE - - 6Y5°8T1 Or1vIT - SUONIppY
EPL8E6YT OPT'e01'p1 100°C01T T00'SS1 L90L6 CEV8LY ¢10oT Arenuef 11y
18003y
000, LN 000, ININ 000, LN 000, LNIN 000, LNIN 000, LNIA STOT 1qudQ [£IV
0], sasnuedad APIIA sromdure)) juamdmbo SIS L]
103 ysoda(g 201y30

pue danyuan,g

INAWLINOH ANV ALIAAIOUd ‘ST

SL0Z AHGINHOHA 1€ — SINTWALVLS TVIDONVNEL GALVAITOSNOD dHL OL SHLON

SHRIVIAISAAS SLI ANV DS ONITTOH MINW




|WMI

LEO'GPL P 0vZ €01 b1 12€°68 $80°8 LYI6'LS vLOYTE ypmowe Surfiid JoN
901°681 - 089°G1 L1669 0S1°6¢€ 65€ 79 P10T 10qu23(] 1€ 1V
8T0°8S - 005°01 719°9Z €S6°8 196°T1 (£ 210N 1204 o1 10] 25181
8L0°I€1 - 081°¢ €0c'er L61°0¢ 86£°TS $107 Atenuef [ 1y
uonepaidop parvumddy
EPLBEO YT OrZ'e01'v1 100°501 T00'ss1 L90°L6 CEY'SLY 10T R2qQuuade(] 18 WV
PEC'LLIYT OPZe01 vl - 08T'%9 718°6 - SUCTIIPPY
607" 19L - 100°501 TTL06 €STLS CEV'8LY $10¢ Arenuep 1 1y
1503 1y
000, LNJA 000 LN 000, LN 000.LNIN 060, LNTA 000, LNV $I0T 12qUIIN 1E IV
[eiol, sastuaad PNYIA stmndwoyy wdwdmba saspuaag
J10} ysodag adNyyo

PUE SANJIELIN

(@INOD) INHIWAINOHA ANV ALAAIOUd SI

STOT HAIWHODHAA 1€ — SEINHIWALV.LS TVIDNVNIA AHALVEITOSNOD THL OL SHLON

SHIAVIAISENS SLE ANV 3SE ONIGTOH MIN




MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At cost

At 1 January
Additions
Write-off
Total

Accumulated amortization
At 1 January

Charge for the year (Note 7)
Write-off

Total

Net carrying amount

17. BORROWED FUNDS

Ministry of Finance of Mongolia

Computer software

2015 2014
MNT'000 MNT'000
189,677 59,814
10,560 129,863
(3,739 -
194,448 189,677
49,284 26,620
58,619 22,664
(5,789) -
102,114 49,284
92,334 140,393
2015 2014
MNT'000 MNT'(00
8,866,368 8,782,916

The sub-lending agreement between the Ministry of Finance and the Group was made on 3 January 2011.

The Group has fully drawn the full amount of the loan in 2012.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the borrowing from the Ministry of Finance bore nominal
interest rates ranging from 7.42% to 9.41% (2014: 7.42% to 9.41%). The interest on the borrowing is

payable on 30 May and 30 November of each year, while the principal is payable in 2020.

The borrowing is not collateralized.
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18. COLLATERALIZED BONDS

19.

Enterest 2015 2014

rate MNT'000 MNT'000

Senior bond 4.5% 1,817,781,811 747,643,308
Junior bond 10.3% 219,760,398 87,988,678
2,037,542,209 835,631,986

The senior and junior bonds as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 represent bonds issued by
MIK. Active One SPC LLC, MIK Asset Two SPC LLC, MIK Asset Three SPC LLC, MIK. Asset Four SPC
LLC, MIK Asset Five SPC LLC, MIK Asset Six SPC LLC, and MIK Asset Seven SPC LLC to BoM and
commercial banks on 23 December 2013, 30 June 2014, 31 October 2014, 21 January 2015, 29 May 2015,
10 August 2015 and 30 November 2015 respectively under the RMBS program of the government of
Mongolia. The bonds are collateralized by purchased mortgage pool receivables (see Note 13). The interest
on the junior bonds and the senior bonds are 10.5% and 4.5% per annum respectively and are payable on a
quarterly basis. The principal payments of the senior bonds are payable on a quarterly basis and are equal
to the quarterly principal repayment received from the purchased mortgage pool receivables acquired
under the RMBS program. The principal of the junior bonds will only be redeemed after the full
redemption of the principal of the senior bonds and the payments to junior bond holders are subordinate in
right of payment and priority to the senior bonds. Commercial banks are to use the senior bonds to repay
their loans from BoM. The junior bonds, per the Securities Law of Mongolia, are required to be held by
commercial banks for at least 3 years,

The bonds are not publicly traded on an active market (such as the stock exchange), but are sold directly to
commercial banks. The Group did not have any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with
respect to the collateralized bonds during 2015 and 2014,

The carrying amount of purchased mortgage pool receivables used as collateral for the total collateralized
bonds as of 31 December 2015 is MNT 2,010,062,427 thousand (2014: MNT 823,404,667 thousand), refer
to Note 13.

OTHER LIABILITIES
2015 2014
MNT'000 MNT'000
Deferred grant 89,309 101,367
Other payables 7,324,198 3,030,324
7,413,507 3,131,691

Included in other payables are loan service fee payable to the banks for the collection of the purchased
mortgage pool receivables and provision of the future withholding tax liabilities against the future dividend
distribution of the SPVs.

Loan service fees are normally settled o the banks with the next quarterly coupon payment of the RMBS.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

19.

20.

OTHER LIABILITIES (CONT'D.)

Movements in deferred grants are presented as follows:

2015 2014

MNT'000 MNT'000

Balance at beginning of year 101,367 113,425
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 6) (12,058) {12,058)
89,309 101,367

ORDINARY SHARES

The Company is a joint stock company established under the Company Law of Mongolia and listed on
Mongolian Stock Exchange on 24 December 2015. The total authorized share capital of the Company
represents 30,000,000 ordinary shares (2014: 30,000,000) with nominal value of MNT 1,000 per share.
The total number of issued shares as of 31 December 2015 was 20,709,320 ordinary shares (2014:
16,798,856} with nominal value of MNT 1,000 per share. All issued ordinary shares are fully paid. Each
ordinary share carries one vote.

On 26 March 2014, 2,500,000 shares of MNT 1,000 par value were issued by the Group to the
Development Bank of Mongolia for a cash subscription price of MNT 4,000 per share. This issuance of
shares resulted in the increase in share premium by MNT 7,500,000 thousand.

On 23 April 2015, the Group declared 804,066 stock dividends to shareholders in accordance to their
percentage of ownership. The fair value of the additional shares issued was estimated to be MNT 4,503 per
share. This stock dividend resulted in an increase in share premium by MNT 2,454,572 thousand.

On 24 December 2015, the Group was listed on the Mongolian Stock Exchange. As a part of the initial
public offering, the Group issued an additional 3,106,398 new shares on the Mongolian Stock Exchange at
a subscription price of MNT 12,000 per share, resulting in total cash proceeds of MNT 37,277 million.
Share premium was thereby increased by MNT 34,045,708 thousand net of capitalized expenditure of
MNT 124,670 thousand.

The movement in number of shares and amount of share capital during the years ended 31 December 2015
and 31 December 2014 are as follows:

Number of shares Amount
of MINT 1,000 each 2015 2014
2015 2014 MNT'000 MNT'000
At Ist Janmary 16,798,856 14,298,856 16,798,856 14,298,856
Issued during the year 3,106,398 2,500,000 3,106,398 2,500,000
Stock dividends 804,066 - 804,066 o

20,709,320 16,798,856 20,709,320 16,798,856
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

20. ORDINARY SHARES (CONT’D.)

The sharcholders of the Group as of 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 and percentages of

ownership are as follows:

2015 2014
Ulaanbaatar City Bank LLC 28.66% 28.38%
Trade and Development Bank of Mongelia LLC 25.64% 30.17%
Capital Bank LLC 8.12% 9.55%
TDB Capital LLC 7.53% -
Golomit Bank LLC 5.57% 6.55%
United Securities LLC 1.79% 1.79%
Khan Bank LLC 1.02% 1.20%
XacBank LLC 1.02% 1.20%
Capitron Bank LIC 1.02% 1.20%
Chinggis Khaan Bank LLC 0.30% 0.30%
Others 0.03% —
‘Total private sector share 80.70% 80.34%
Development Bank of Mongolia 14.88% 14.88%
Bank of Mongolia 2.03% 2.39%
State Bank LLC 2.39% 2.39%
Total state share: 19.30% 19.66%
Total 100.00% 106.00%

Financial and operating policy decisions, including strategic decisions, are made at the meetings of the
Board of Directors (BODD)). The members of the BOD are appointed at the Shareholders’ Meeting. As of 31
December 2015, each bank has the ability to appoint one member to the BOD on rotation basis, which
consists of 5 representatives of the commercial banks and stated owned banks. In addition, all bank
shareholders have material transactions with the Group during 2015 and participated in the policy making

procedures.

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Notes
Cash on hand 10
Bank balances 10

Less: Placement with banks with original maturities
of more than three months

Total cash and cash equivalents for the consolidated
statement of cash flow

-39 .

2015 2014
MNT'000 MNT'000
1,047 146
128,131,174 50,105,022
128,132,221 50,105,168

(22,015,428

(11,520,052)

106,112,793

38,585,116




MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

22,

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
Legal claims

Litigation is a common occurrence in the financial services industry due to the nature of the business. The
Group has an established protocol for dealing with such legal claims. Once professional advice has been
obtained and the amount of damages can be reasonably estimated, the Group makes adjustments to account
for any adverse effects which the claim may have on its financial standing. At the year end, the Group had
one significant outstanding litigation with tax authorities described below.

Tax legisiation

Mongolian tax legislation is subject to varying interpretations, and changes, which can occur frequently.
Management's interpretation of such legislation as applied to the transactions and activity of the Group
may be challenged by tax authorities.

Mongolian tax authorities may be taking a more assertive position in their interpretation of the legislation
and assessments, and it is possible that transactions and activities that have not been challenged in the past
may be challenged by tax authorities. As a result, significant additional taxes, penalties and interest may
be assessed. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect of taxes for five calendar
years preceding the year of review. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods.

Mongolian transfer pricing legislation provides the possibility for tax authorities to make transfer pricing
adjustments and impose additional tax liabilities in respect of all controllable transactions, including those
related to domestic transfer pricing. In case of deviation of transaction terms from market terms, the tax
authorities have the right to adjust taxable items and to impose additional taxes, fines and interest
penalties. Given the brief nature of the current Mongolian transfer pricing rules, the impact of any such
challenge cannot be reliably estimated. However, it may be significant to the financial position and/or the
overall operations of the entity.
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2015

22. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS (CONT’D.)

Tax legislation (cont’d.)

Mongolian tax legislation does not provide definitive guidance in certain areas, specifically in areas such
as VAT, withholding tax, corporate income tax, personal income tax and other areas. From time to time,
the Group adopts interpretations of such uncertain areas that reduce the overall tax rate of the Group. As
noted above, such tax positions may come under heightened scrutiny as a result of recent developments in
administrative and court practices. The impact of any challenge by the tax authorities cannot be reliably
estimated; however, it may be significant to the financial position and/or the overall operations of the
entity.

As a result of a tax inspection conducted during 2014 for the 2013 fiscal year, the Group is involved in
litigation with the tax authorities, who have challenged the Group’s tax position primarily with regard to
corporate income tax and withholding tax. On 24 November 2014, the Group received a tax demand notice
from the Sukhbaatar district Tax Inspection Department requiring the Group to pay MNT 128 million, The
tax authorities claim the Group has a corporate income tax liability related to interest income generated
from deposits with banks. Management believes that the Group is not liable since the Group placed these
deposits as principal payment for the collateralized bonds. In 2015, the Group has appealed to the Tax
Department of Capital City, Tax Dispute Settlement Council regarding this matter. On 17 April 2015 the
Tax Department of Capital City, Tax Dispute Settlement Council resalved to affirm the tax demand notice
dated on 24 November 2014, Then the Group filed a complaint to the General Department of Taxation and
Customs, Tax Dispute Settlement Council on this matter. In February, 2016, the General Department of
Taxation and Customs, Tax Dispute Settlement Council issued a resolution to affirm the decision of Tax
Department of Capital City, Tax Dispute Settlement Council dated on 17 April 2015. However, the Group
disagrees with this resolution and is planning to file a complaint to the Administrative Court. The litigation
is still in progress, however based on the recent developments, the management estimates that the possible
losses that could arise from this litigation, including fines, interest and penalties amounted to MNT 109
million. The Group recorded the provision for possible tax expenses of MNT 44 million and MNT 65
million in other payables in 2014 and 2015, respectively.

Management performs regular re-assessment of tax risks and its position may change in the future as a
result of the change in conditions that cannot be anticipated with sufficient certainty at present.

Assets pledged and restricted

Bonds issued by the Group are fully collateralised by the purchased mortgage pool receivables. As of 31
December 2015, the Group had mortgage pool receivables with the carrying value of MNT 2,010,062,427
thousand (2014: MNT 823,404,667 thousand) pledged as collateral for the bonds. The related liabilities
amount is MNT 2,037,542,209 thousand as of 31 December 2015 (2014: MNT 835,631,986 thousand).
Refer to Notes 13 and 18.
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015
™ 23. MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
1 The table shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be
recovered or settled. See Note 25.3 'Liquidity risk' for the Group’s contractual undiscounted repayment
obligations.
Less than More than
12 months 12 months Total
MNT'000 MNT'000 MNT'000
- At 31 December 2015
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances 128,132,221 - 128,132,221
Financial investment-held to maturity 2,899,001 - 2,899 001
Mortgage pool receivables with recourse 915,054 10,281,763 11,196,817
Purchased mortgage pool receivables 108,489,660  1,901,572,767 2,010,062,427
Other assets 70,319 - 70,319
240,506,255  1,911,854,530 2,152,360,785
Non-financiai assets
Property and equipment - 14,782,248 14,782,248
3 Intangible assets - 92,334 92,334
3 Other assets 117,896 — 117,896
117,896 14,874,582 14,992,478
Total 240,624,151 1,926,729,112 2,167,353,263
Financial liabilities
Borrowed funds 425,596 8,440,772 8,866,368
Collateralized bonds 114,084,693  1,923,457,516 2,037,542.209
Other liabilities 3,489,583 3,725,216 7,214,799
117,999,872  1,935,623,504 2,053,623,376
Non-financial liabilities
Other liabilities 198,708 - 198,708
- Income tax payable 86,676 - 86,676
- 285,384 - 285,384
L Total 118,285,256 1,935,623,504 2,053,908,760
h Net 122,338,895 (8,894,392) 113,444,503
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

23, MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT’D.)

Less than More than
12 months 12 months Total
At 31 December 2014 MNT'000 MNT'000 MNT'000
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances 50,105,168 - 50,105,168
Mortgage pool receivables with recourse 201,238 5,085,332 5,286,570
Purchased mortgage pool receivables 53,083,535 770,321,132 823,404,667
Other assets 159,360 - 159,360
103,549,301 775,400,464 878,955,765
Non-financial assets
Property and equipment - 14,749,637 14,749,637
Intangible assets - 140,393 140,393
Other assets 103,024 - 103,024
103,024 14,890,030 14,993,054
Total 103,652,325 790,296,494 $93,948.819
Financial liabilities
Borrowed funds 684,295 8,098,621 8,782,916
Collateralized bonds 60,284,369 775,347,617 835,631,986
Other liabilities 2,088,610 - 2,988,610
63,957,274 783,446,238 347,403,512
Non-financial liabilities
Other liabilities 143,081 - 143,081
Income tax payable 122,642 ~ 122,642
265,723 - 265,723
Total 64,222,997 783,446,238 847,669,235
Net 39,429,328 6,850,256 46,279,584

-43 .



l.v.vl

Th1'Es8'sL £87°976°SE0°T 00LVLL 6T 00S'ESH'RIT'T  SPSITL SPL'8TO'RTI oy,
089°€95°6¢ P18°18L°L18%] - - - - eI{OSUOIN JO Yurg
79¥°687°91 TLYPOT'8TT 00LPLL 6T 00S'€SP'89I°T  SPSITLO SPL'8T0'8CY B0,
101°%11 SO1T01'l 005ty 007°T6¢ 960°C L6101 11 queg uonde)
FZSHIL'E 627'655°08 00T°095°LT 00PTRO'SYT L89°0¥0°1 6F1LFLIIE DT jues ueyy]
1S0°88¥°1 OPT'S9L'81 009°80L 11 009°CIL'SE 767°899 61S°TI6'L T ueq oey
P8 TLE T YT 6S0°LT 007°7€9°01 00L'689°S6 z6¥'9T8 605°€90°0 2717 queg 91eis
966'89% 667 9EY O 005 10€°¢ 000°S1L°6T 9£8°8L 110°L18°1 T yueg fenden
£69°EY 0LS 8 1Y - 00E‘EPI‘01 gss TTeieT 711 ueg ueey sidfuy)
760718 86CTSY'L 000 11v'p 000°696°6€ LLE'ROL'T SEPIET YT YT ueq LD releequeen
T608SY'Y 16€°0L6°€9 001°879'8% 009°CER°LEY SS1vE6 TS1°9SLTT DT jukg o]0
L90'GEL'E 819°00%°CS 009°6EF'€T 00L°9S6°01T £50°TOF 1 PLL'SLE €Y DT ueg juawdoaas(] pue apel],
000 LN 000.LNIA 000. LN 000 LNIA 000. LN 000.LNTA

asuadxd ISy UGB} spuoq hcm==_. SpuUoq A0S QT 02T )52 09)U] soQueuq yuuyg

mnmﬁﬁawmazo JO DUENSS] 30 UENSSY

SPUOY] PIZHEIAIE[[0]) spsoda(g yueg S107 1OquIddI( [€ I¢ SV

'sonred poje[al yum suonoEsuEl] pu sasue[eq Fuimorjoy ay) sey dnoln oy} ‘g7 PqW0a(] 1 18 SV
"sapred pote[ar oq 03 WAY) SIOPISUOD JUSWOFRURW “1010211p € Jutodde 0 JUSLI 3Y) 2ARY SIOPIOYRIRYS [[B Sy

"SQIET J93}ILIU JB puB
SWLI9} [BIDIDUILIOD UO O PILLIED 19M SUOHORSURI) 9SAY], 'SSOUTSNQ JO DSINOO [BULIOU 9] UT sored pajelal 1im 0JuT PaIajus ale suoloesuel) 8,dnoiny ay) Jo oqunu y

SHANSOTISIA ALV QRELVTHY $T

STOT HHAIWHDIAA T€ ~ SINFAHLV.LS TVIDNVNIA TALVATTOSNOD AHL OL SHLON

SATAVIAISANS S.EI ANV DSE ONIATOH MIN




Imvl

‘syuB
o) erA dnon) a3 01 ySnoay) passed ade Jey) SIMOLI0Q [ENPIAIPUL WO SWODUT 1$2123Ul AU} sJuasatdar asmooalr moimApiam [ood afediow woly awooul «mu.umoﬁm ®
998°0IL’S 9€L'696°ST1 668°0pS°'T 901°1.8°666°T  LIS96T°T] 8T8 ISLLOT T 881°L6S°6 felog,
0L T 891°018 LAY C1Z°085°6 [AFArS 66L°SEY L86°99%'1 DT yueg voxrde)
808°6LT°1 8PP 60£°9T T #81°089°65Y yET oY ¥98°T09°SLT - DT yued uey
110°eps OLL'OLTT] ¥89°89L 8E8TITTLL  L9T°0T0'S €1L°980°L11 p09°1¥8'S D17 ueg oey
£€9°CEY 80L'LIT 6 90t 0ES 12€°€99°8S1 99 vTT'C 0P 1°TTE901 - T Nued |els
6YE°LST 1£6°8LE'E pSS6L 66£°878°6S 09t 1L6°T 0TL910°EE vS6°S20°T OTT yueg jende)
L88E1 wyT9le - 68C°CT8°C - - - yueq ueey] sISSuN)
620181 86T°CLEE ST8°86 $8¢'LS1°69 860°C06 12201 v £79°79T Jueg AnD Jejeequer|n)
886°6SS"] 186°€LECE - 7S6 121968 - 0L8°081°98Y - DT jyueg 1000
665705 1 785°€16'8T - 128%06°0Ly -~ 10S°06€7ET - yueq juswdo[eaa(] pue sper],
000 LNIA 000 LNIN 000 LNIN 000. LN 000 NN 000 LN 000.LNIN
291 £95IN022 £95IN022.X 35110231 28IN0T 25am0d21 ISAN0IX YIM
IDIALIS UvO] Inoy A food ynum ood JRoYNA [JIAA DOUBIEG  JNOYIAL [ood ageS)r0m
Jgedirom woal  ofud)iow WIOEl  ADUE[E( Suipumeising  [ood 98eSirom  jo aseydang
JWIODUL }SAIUY  JWODUL IS2AIU  Burpueispng Jo aserpang

onjopiaod [eod agedriogy

STHT JOqQUIA(Y TE I SV

(A LNOD) STUNSOTISIA ALYV QULVTHE $T

STOC AHAWHOHA 1€ — SINHWHALV.LS TVIDNVNIA ELVAITOSNOD THL OL STLON

SHTAVIAISNS SLI ANV JSI ONIATOH MIN




lo.vl

L6O'LIS'ET 009°P8F pE8 00L°788°¢S 00€"€r6'v8P 18910 S9L'166°6F [v30L,
781°7£8°81 80E'CHO'LYL = - - - RIJOTUOIA] JO Yueg
SI6'P86°Y 26T 178'08 00L788°€S 00€'CH6'v8Y 189 10¢" ¥ S9L166°6Y
€S IS $68°0S0°1 005169 00L°TTT9 900°1 601°L61 D171 jueg uonide))
991°€98°1 $66'789°TE 00Z'GLO'L 006°9L0°69 #60°LST CEP'PRID D11 ueg ueyy
LFE'9LE 1LL'TRR9 00¥°L6T'S 000'9L9°LY 61T°LTE 9ZL'006°E DT queq sex
$SS01Z £60°L8T°9 00.991°9 006°006°6S 9ZF 0LE Y1769 D17 3ueq g
9.8°181 ZI£'960°C 009°798°1 00079L°91 €EL'T 908°1ST D11 ueg 1ende)
650°6¢ C6T'81Y 00¥°0€1 009°CLT1 SO¥ £99°0T DT jueq ueey3] sISFuy)
02008 779'996'C 00V PL9°T 000°690vT 61°001°C £87'710°6 DT queg AnD Iewequer|n
17079 128 LILYT 000°LS8°T1 00S°T1L 901 09¥' ¢l 8L1°89¢€°T1 D171 queg Jwojon
9€6'6951 69L°089°ST 00S‘LZS LY Q0L LYLILST 9% 1°809 £66°S6E°01 jueg Juswdopasg pue apel],
000 LNIN 000 INIW 000 LNIA 000 INI 000 LNIA 000 LN
asuadxa sy R EHT] Spuoq ‘:u_mms_, SpUo( J0RE 2U0DUT 3S2.10JUY saxuejeq Jueg

Surpuwising 30 20uunssy JOo 20uENSsSs]

PI0T 1QUN( [ £ I8 §V

SpUoOg POZI[B.INBI0)) sysoda(y yueg

10T WPquwoad [ g Jo se suonoesuen Alred pajejay

(A ILNOD) STRINSOTIISIA ALAVd AALVIAY PT

S10T JHIWHDUA 1€~ SINHAILV.LS TYIDNVNIA AALVAITOSNGD FHL OJ SELON

SHIAVIAISENS SLI ANV D8I ONITTOH MIN




l\l.vl

sHueq
og: mm> QBO.t.U Dﬁﬁ (o3} zwso,ﬁw ﬁomwmm ale ﬁw:w @50&50_ E:—ufwmﬁﬂ: EO.@ oﬁﬂoomﬁ .._mu.qouzm 05 m..:.ﬁmo.ﬁ&u.ﬁ J5IMO22I amoﬂga\::? _OOQ owmwﬁ.uwm C.HO.@ mz.ﬁooﬁm wmv.nwu:m *

L8T'TI0T 080°8SC°9¢ TE8°E6L 6I8°C0TEIR £90°€€T’S 8€897R°8ES 0£8°L60°S [v10,
7£9°¢T 87TL8E 081°8 065°656°6 S0T°99 SOTHI6'9 - D11 yueq vonide)
STEIEL F£0'88Y°C1 6EL'GT £2£°056°80T 910°L8 681°7SL9L = T queg veyy
L98°0%1 SO9'¥8LT - 019°6LL Y9 - 88T°CLGTS - D171 ueg sey
1EP°E8 006°895°1 620759 F£5°896°65 YL 11EY LTL'L99°T9 0€8°L60°S D17 Yueg dqelg
OvE'LS €60 PPE’1 - 01+°0£9°6T - 804°079°81 - D171 xueg ende)
6EY'6 £L0°T9T - SISLEDY - 90190 - yueg ueeqy siFSur)
789° [+ LY L]S 00986 LSS'08E°8T $60°89L 19¥°¢tL 92 - T yueg A0 1ejeequee])
1P ST SLL'EESY £82°61 Pr8°9TL6E1 - LT9°696 811 - DT yuegd 1wojen
1S1°0L9 168°10€°11 - 9Er 0LL LIT - LYTSLTSLT - Jueg Watdo[oAd(] pue aper]
000 INIA 000.LNIN 000 LNIA 000 LNIA 000 LNIA 000 ININ 000 LN
28] AIS 238N0 #2810 T JAL5IN0dAI A5.INgD1 2810331 38510231
uvo-y noym jood 3 jood MOYIM YU UBEB] INOYIM ym jood

afe8)iow 10y aged)rom 10 asuefeq durpueising [ood 233y rom adedrrowm

JULODUT 1SO.103U]  JWEODUI 1S2.0NI]  SUIpuvIsIng Jo aserppang Jo aseraanyg

ofjojiiod j00d a5es)I0m

PLOT QU 1€

1$MO1]0] SE e (7 1PqURIR(] [ JO St uonoesuen) Alied paje[ay]

(A INOD) STANSOTISIA ALYV GALVITT $T

SIGT HAHIWADHC 1€ — SINHIWILVY.LS TVIDNVNIA CALVUIIOSNGD THL 01 SHLON

SHRIVIAISENS SLI ANV IS ONITTOH MIN




o

3
xSt

MIK HOLDING J5C AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2015

24, RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONT’D.)
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Other payables

Other payables include loan service fee payable to the banks for the collection of the purchased mortgage
pool receivables as follows.

2015 2014

MNT'000 MNT'}00

Trade and Development Bank LLC 623,597 2,049,113
Golomt Bank LI.C 796,222 161,114
Ulaanbaatar City Bank LL.C 87,628 30,053
Chinggis Khaan Bank LLC 6,496 3,446
Capital Bank LLC 73,604 27,894
State Bank LLC 200,303 135,634
Xac Bank LLC 271,930 97,129
Khan Bank LLC 530,702 270,381
Capitron Bank LLC 16,604 13,140
Total 2,607,086 2,787,904

Included in payable to Trade and Development Bank LLC, is remaining payment for the purchase of office
space.
Loan service fees are normally settled to the banks with the next quarterly coupon payment of the RMBS.

Compensation to key management personnel

2015 2014
MNT'000 MNT'000
Compensation to key management personnel as follows:
Short-term employees benefits
- Salaries, incentives and allowances 530,193 441,261
- Contribution to social and health fund 35,707 28,698
565,902 469,959

Other transaction with a related party

On 31 December 2014, the Group entered into a contract to purchase an office space from Trade and
Development Bank, a sharcholder of the Group, amounting to MNT 13,737,600 thousand. The Group
obtained the ownership certificate of the office space on 02 June 2015.

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

The above mentioned outstanding balances arose from the ordinary course of the Group’s business. The
interest charged to and by related parties are at normal commercial rates in relation to bank deposits and
mortgage pools and at the rates specified in the RMBS. There have been no guarantees provided or
received for any related party receivables or payables. For the year ended 31 December 2015 and 31
December 2014, the Group has no provision for doubtful debts against the amounts due from related
parties.
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

25. RISK MANAGEMENT

25.1 Introduction
The Group’s business activities expose if to the following major categories of financial risk:

»  Credit risk. Credit risk is the potential for financial loss resulting from the failure of a borrower or
institutional counterparty to honor its financial or contractual obligations, resulting in a potential loss
of earnings or cash flows.

»  Liquidity risk. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its funding obligations
in a timely manner.

< Market risk. Market risk is the exposure generated by adverse changes in the value of the Group’s
financial assets caused by a change in interest rates or foreign exchange rates.

«  Operational risk. Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal
processes, people, systems, corporate governance, or from external events.

The Group seeks to manage those risks by using an established risk management framework that continues
to evolve as the Group grows and expands its business. This risk management framework is intended to
provide the basis of the principles that govern the Group’s risk management activities.

Risk management structure

The Company has its dedicated Board of Directors (BOD) appointed by its shareholders. The BOD is
responsible for the oversight of asset management and execution of responsibility through the board
committee system, which includes the following standing committees: the Risk Committee (RC), the
Finance and Audit Committee (FAC), and the Operations and Legal Committee (OLC).

The RC oversees general risk—related policies, including review of the Group-level risk policies and
limits, performance against these policies and limits, and the sufficiency of risk management capabilities.
In addition to overseeing liquidity risk and market risk in association with the RC, the FAC reviews the
Group’s system of internal controls, and approves purchases of pools of mortgage loan receivables. The
OLC oversees operational risk and legal compliance.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group,
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management
policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and in the products and
services offered. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to
develop a disciplined and constructive control environment.

- 49 .



MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIBIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

25. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D.)
25.2 Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk exists primarily from the pools of mortgage loan receivables that it has purchased.
In regards to mortgage loan receivables, the credit risk is the risk of not receiving principal or interest on a
timely basis due to the borrowers not making payments on time.

The procedures include thorough due diligence to ensure that the commercial banks comply with certain
minimum quality standards based on those established by the BoM and the use of a proprietary scoring
mode] that utilises both qualitative and quantitative measurements related to the overall quality of the
commercial banks and their policies and procedures.

The Group also has developed eligibility criteria for the loan receivables that they can acquire. The criteria
are set for the borrower, loan, collateral asset and loan documents based on Mongolian Law and
requirements set by BoM. The loan files for every loan receivable to be purchased are checked for
completeness for each borrower, and management also ensures that the eligibility criteria are met.

After pools of loan receivables are purchased, the Group receives daily settlement reports and reconciles
the information, on a monthly basis. A consolidated quality report is obtained from the loan origination
banks. These reports are used to closely monitor the performance of the loan origination banks in
collecting loan payments on behalf of the Group. In addition, a follow up is made with the loan origination
banks on any loans with slow repayment history. The policies and procedures for selecting loan
receivables for purchase have been approved and are monitored by the Board RC.

Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit
enhancements

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of

financial position. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use
of collateral agreements.
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2015

25. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D.)

25.2 Credit risk (cont’d.)

Gross Gross
maximum maximum
exposure exposure

2615 2014
MNT?600 MNT?000

Bank balances 128,131,174 50,105,022
Financial investments-held to maturity 2.899.001 -

Mortgage pool receivables with recourse 11,196,817 5,286,570
Purchased mortgage pool receivables 2,013,824,685 823,878,086
Other assets 74,499 163,540
Total credit risk exposure 2,156,126,176 879,433,218

Collateral and other credit enhancements

Purchased mortgage pool receivables are collateralized by residential properties pledged under the
mortgage loan agreements between the originating financial institutions and the individual mortgage loan
borrowers.

Balances with banks and other receivables are not collateralized.

The original purchase price of the properties held as collateral by the Group as at 31 December 2015 was
MNT 3,733,195,496 thousand (31 December 2014: MNT 1,448,043,715 thousand).
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2015

25. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D.)
25.2 Credit risk (cont’d.)

The credit quality of the portfolio is primarily monitored based on ageing reports and is analysed through
monitoring delays in payment (particularly over 90 days) in subsequent periods.

The Group purchases only performing mortgage loans (i.e. loans without delays). Thus, management
believes that credit quality of purchased mortgage pools is adequate, as evidenced by an insignificant
proportion of past due loans of more than 90 days as at 31 December 2015.

In accordance with the Group’s credit risk procedures, the ratio between the carrying amount of purchased
loans and the fair value of collateral (apartment or other residential property) at the time of purchase of the
mortgage pools needs to be at Jeast 70% and the Group has the first claim over all residential properties
used as collateral.

25.3 Liquidity risk

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group does not have
formalised procedures for managing liquidity risk, though certain methods outlined below have been
implemented.

Exposure to liquidity risk

The key measure used by the Group for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of net liquid assets to current
liabilities. However, the Group’s repayment schedule of bonds is directly related to the collection of the
repayments from the purchased mortgage pools; the Group has assessed that its exposure to liquidity risk is
insignificant.

Amnalysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities

The table below swmmarizes the maturity profile of the Group's financial assets and liabilities at 31
December 2015 and 31 December 2014 based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2015

25. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D.)
25.3  Liquidity risk (cont’d.)

The above tables show the Group’s exposure to liquidity risk based on the contractual maturities of
financial assets and liabilities; however, if prepayments are made by the individual borrowers, it shortens
the contractual maturity. In this case, the contractual maturity of the bonds is proportionally affected as the
contractual principal repayment of the bond is equal to the principal repayment of mortgage pools and
ultimately will not have significant impact on the overall liquidity of the Group.

25.4  Market risk

As noted previously, market risk is the risk that changes in market conditions, such as changes in interest
rates and foreign exchange rates will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial
assets. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within
acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk. The Group is currently in the process of
developing formalised procedures and improving its risk management practices regarding market risks.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human errors, fraud or external events.
When controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory
implications, and lead to financial loss. The Group cannot expect to eliminate all operational risk, but
through a dual control framework, segregation of duties between front-office and back office functions,
controlled access to systems, authorization and reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment
processes, including the use of internal audit, the Group seeks to manage operational risk.
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2015

25. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D.)
25.4  Market risk
Currency risk
Currency risk is the possibility of financial loss to the Group arising from adverse movements in foreign
exchange rates. The Group's management sets limits on the level of exposure by currencies, which are
monitored on a frequent basis.
The Group has no significant foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities.

Interest rate risk

Given that interest rates of the financial assets and liabilities are fixed due to the nature of the Group’s
operation, the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is limited.

As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, the Group’s interest bearing assets (cash and bank
balances, financial investments-held to maturity, mortgage pool receivables with recourse and purchased
mortgage pool receivables without recourse) and interest bearing liabilities (borrowed funds and
collateralised bonds) have fixed interest rates and are not subject to repricing until they mature.

The table presents the aggregated amounts of the Group’s interest bearing financial assets and Habilities at
carrying amounts, categorised by their maturity dates.

Less than 3 3to6 6 months Ttos Over 5
months months  to 1 year years years Fotal

At 31 December 2015  MNT'000 MNT'000 MNT'000 MNT'000 MNT'000 MNT'000

Total financial assets 161,462,910 27,281,086 51,690,890 463,289,272 1,448,565,261 2,152,289,419
Total financial

liabilities 38,231,709 25,025,788 51,252,792 468,876,252  1,463,022,036 2,046,408,577
Net interest
sensitivity gap 123,231,201 2,255,298 438,098 (5,586,980)  (14,456,775) 105,880,842

At 31 December 2014

Total financial assets 34,311,771 12,772,462 27,300,787 208,717,056 561,559,831 844,661,907
Total financial

Habilities 17,331,069 14,456,800 28,496,500 256,219,600 519,128,017 835,631,986
Net interest
sensitivity gap 16,980,702 (1,684,338) (1,195,713) (47,502,544) 42,431,814 9.029.921
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MIK HOLDING JSC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -31 DECEMBER 2015

26. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

27.

The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for those
financial instruments which are not recorded at fair value in the financial statements. The estimated fair
values fall under Level 2 since the inputs used to estimate the fair value are all market observable.

Assets for which fair value approximates carrying value

For financial assets and financial Habilities that are liquid or have short term maturity (less than one year),
it is assumed that the carrying amounts approximate to their fair value. This assumption is also applied to
bank balances and variable rate financial instruments. Based on fair value assessments performed by the
management, the estimated fair values of instruments with maturity more than one year approximate their
carrying amounts as shown in the statement of financial position. This is due principally to the fact that the
current market rates offered for similar deposit products do not differ significantly from market rates at
inception.

Fixed rate financial instruments

The carrying value of the Group’s fixed rate financial assets and liabilities approximates the fair value by
comparing market interest rates when they were first recognised with current market rates offered for
similar financial instruments available in Mongolia.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and fulfil its obligations to the investors of the RMBS
by effectively managing the subsidiaries. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may issue new shares, obtain borrowings, invest in permitted investments or issue bonds. The amount of
equity capital that the Group managed as of 31 December 2015 was MNT 113,444,503 thousand (as of 31
December 2014: MNT 46,279,584 thousand).

Included in retained earnings as at 31 December 2015 are restricted retained earnings of MNT 37,252,156
thousand (31 December 2014: MNT 8,534,347 thousand) that are attributable to the Group’s SPVs and are
restricted from distribution until the liquidation of the respective SPVs in accordance with the Articles of
Charter of each SPV and FRC regulation.

Since establishment of its subsidiaries, MIK Asset One SPC LLC, MIK Asset Two SPC LLC, MIK Asset
Three SPC LLC, MIK Asset Four SPC LLC, MIK Asset Five SPC LLC, MIK Asset Six SPC LLC, MIK
Asset Seven SPC LLC, MIK Asset Eight SPC LLC and MIK Asset Nine SPC LLC, the Group’s capital
management structure focused on the management of the assets of the subsidiaries. Each year, upon
settlement of the obligations of the Group, the BoD has resolved that any surplus funds are to be invested
as follows:

(a)  securities issned or guaranteed by the Government of Mongolia or BoM;
(b)  accounts maintained with a bank regulated by BoM and having a rating by any of the rating
agencies commonly known as Standard & Poor’s, Fitch or Moody’s.

The BoD has also resolved that any such investments will be of short term maturity and denominated in
Tugrug.

The Group was not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements throughout 2015 and 2014.
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28.

29,

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In January 2016, MIK Asset Eight SPC LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group has purchased
mortgage pools from the commercial banks amounting to MNT 186,330.6 million. As consideration for the

purchase of these mortgage pools, MIK Asset Eight SPC LLC has issued senior and junior residential
mortgage backed bonds to these banks amounting to MNT 186,330 million.

MONGOLIAN TRANSLATION

These financial statements are also prepared in the Mongolian language. In the event of discrepancies or
contradictions between the English version and the Mongolian version, the English version will prevail.
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